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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

RICHMOND DIVISION
FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION, )
Plaintiff, 3

V. 3 Case No.: 3:15-CV-00452-MHL
POWHATAN ENERGY FUND LLC, et al., i
Defendants. 3
)

Defendants Powhatan Energy Fund LLC, Houlian Chen, HEEP Fund, Inc., and CU Fund,
Inc., by counsel, submit this Notice of Supplemental Authority that addresses issues relevant to
this Court’s Memorandum Order dated January 8, 2016 (ECF No. 44) and the parties’ argument
and briefing regarding the procedures under the Federal Power Act.

On March 30, 2017, the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of California issued an
Order in a Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) civil penalty action, FERC v.
Barclays Bank PLC, et al., Civ. No. 2:13cv02093-TLN-DB (ECF No. 203), in which the Court
addressed the procedures for District Court actions under 16 U.S.C. § 823b(d)(3). The Barclays
Court “conclude[d], in agreement with every other federal court that has expressly addressed this
issue, that Defendants are entitled to conduct discovery under the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure.” Barclays, Slip. Op. at 2 (citing FERC v. Maxim Power Corp., 196 F. Supp. 3d 181 (D.
Mass. 2016); FERC v. City Power Mktg., LLC, 199 F. Supp. 3d 218 (D.D.C. 2016); FERC v.
Silkman, No. 1:16-cv-00205-JAW, 2017 WL 374697 (D. Me. Jan. 26, 2017); FERC v. ETRACOM

LLC, No. 2:16cv01945-SB, 2017 WL , 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33430 (E.D. Cal. Mar. 8,
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2017)). According to the Court, “FERC offers no coherent explanation for why the statute would
authorize full discovery before an ALJ but silently deny it if Defendants chose to go to district
court.” Barclays, Slip. Op. at 9. The Barclays court therefore denied without prejudice FERC’s
motion to affirm its agency-assessed civil penalties allowing the motion’s “renewal as a dispositive

motion under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, at an appropriate time.” Barclays, Slip. Op. at

27.
A copy of the Barclays Order is attached as
Dated: March 31, 2017 Respectfully submitted,
/s/ John S. Davis
John N. Estes III (Pro Hac Vice) John Staige Davis, V (Va. Bar No. 72420)
Donna M. Byrne (Pro Hac Vice) Jonathan T. Lucier (Va. Bar No. 8§1303)
James Danly (Va. Bar No. 86016) WILLIAMS MULLEN
SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER 200 South 10th Street, Suite 1600
& FLOM LLP Richmond, VA 23219
1440 New York Avenue, N.W. (804) 420-6000
Washington, DC 20005
(202) 371-7950 William M. McSwain (Pro Hac Vice)
Christian E. Piccolo (Pro Hac Vice)
Abbe David Lowell (Pro Hac Vice) DRINKER BIDDLE & REATH LLP
Michael Bhargava (Pro Hac Vice) One Logan Square, Suite 2000
CHADBOURNE & PARKE LLP Philadelphia, PA 19103-6996
1200 New Hampshire Avenue, N.W. (215) 988-2700
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 974-5605 Counsel for Defendant
Powhatan Energy Fund LLC

Counsel for Defendants Houlian Chen, HEEP
Fund, Inc., and CU Fund, Inc.
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I hereby certify that on March 31, 2017, I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk
of Court using the CM/ECF system, which shall send notification of such filing to counsel
receiving notices in this matter, including the following counsel of record:

Samuel G. Backfield, Esq.
Lisa Owings, Esq.

Steven C. Tabackman, Esq.
Elizabeth K. Canizares, Esq.
Federal Energy Regulation Commission
888 1st St., N.W.
Washington, DC 20426
Samuel.Backfield@ferc.gov
Lisa.Owings@ferc.gov
Steven.Tabackman@ferc.gov
Elizabeth.Canizares@ferc.gov

/s/ John S. Davis
John Staige Davis, V (Va. Bar No. 72420)
Jonathan T. Lucier (Va. Bar No. 8§1303)
WILLIAMS MULLEN
200 South 10th Street, Suite 1600
Richmond, VA 23219
Counsel for Defendant Powhatan Energy Fund LLC
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EXHIBIT A

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY No. 2:13cv-2093 TLN DB
COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,
ORDER
V.

BARCLAYS BANK PLC; DANIEL
BRIN; SCOTT CONNELLY; KAREN
LEVINE; and RYAN SMITH,

Defendans.

Plaintiff Federal Energy Regulatory CommissiGRERC), has filed this action, seeking
affirmance ofits administrativeOrder Assessing Civil Penaltie8Assessment Ordéragainst
Defendars. ECF No.1 ( Petition”). Inits Assessment Order, FERSfateshatBarclays Bank
PLC ( Barclays) and four individualwviolatedthe antrmanipulation provisions dhe Federal
Power Act 3)3$,16 U.S.C. 824v(a), and FER® Anti-Manipulation Rule, 1&€.F.R. 1c.1.
Administrative Record AR ) 16-66! The Assessment Order alassessed penaltiaad

! 2Q 1RYHPEHU )(5& ILOHG D 31RWLFH RI /RGIJLL
No. 115 (AR1-8,488). TheCourt notedDefendanVf REMHFWLRQ WR FDOOLQRQ
5HF R @&ECF No. 3$PHQGHG -RLQBnBHBELDWAIIl &f to these

GRFXPHQWY DV WKH 3$GPLQLVWUDWLYH 5HFRUG" RU $$5°

discussed more fully below, tl@ourtdoes not mean by this reference to accord to these
documents the status of a formal agency administrative record.

1
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1 | disgorgements against Defendants totaling $487.9 million. AR 84-85.

2 I.  THE CURRENT MOTION

3 Pending before the Court is FERC’s Motion to Affirm Civil Penalties. ECF No. 125. The
4 | parties have fully briefed the motion. See ECF No. 125 (motion), 136-54 (Defendants’

5 | opposition briefing and declarations), 166 (reply). The matter came on for hearing on February 9,
6 | 2017, at which time the parties responded to specific questions put to them by the Court. See

7 | ECF No. 186.

8 For the reasons that follow, the Court concludes, in agreement with every other federal

9 | court that has expressly addressed this issue, that Defendants are entitled to conduct discovery

10 || under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. See FERC v. Maxim Power Corp., 196 F. Supp. 3d

11 | 181 (D. Mass. 2016); FERC v. City Power Marketing, LLC, 199 F. Supp. 3d 218 (D.D.C. 2016);

12 | FERC v. Silkman, 2017 WL 374697, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10902 (D. Me. 2017); FERC v.

13 | ETRACOM LLC, 2017 WL, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33430 (E.D. Cal. 2017). Accordingly,

14 | the Motion To Affirm will be denied without prejudice to its renewal as a dispositive motion at an
15 | appropriate time.

16 II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

17 On October 9, 2013, FERC commenced this action by filing its “Petition” in this Court,
18 | referring to itself as “Petitioner” and Barclays and the individuals as “Respondents.” ECF No. 1.
19 | The Court will refer to FERC as the “Plaintiff” and to Barclays and the individuals as

20 | “Defendants.”

21 On May 22, 2015, the Court denied Defendants’ motions to transfer venue of this case to
22 | the Southern District of New York, or to dismiss (in whole or in part) on grounds of lack of

23 | jurisdiction, failure to state a claim, or statute of limitations. ECF No. 88.> An overview of the
24 || alleged manipulation is set forth in that order.

25 From the beginning of this litigation, the parties have sparred over whether or not the

26 | Court should permit the parties to conduct discovery under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

27

2 FERC v. Barclays Bank PLC, 105 F. Supp. 3d. 1121 (E.D. Cal. 2015).

28
2
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See ECF Nos. 44 (Defendants’ motion to dismiss), 52 (Joint Report re Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(f)), 101
(Defendants’ briefing on bifurcation), 103 (FERC’s briefing on bifurcation), 118 (Defendants’
motion for discovery).

III.  ADMINISTRATIVE HISTORY

A. FERC’s Authority

In 2006, acting under the authority granted it by 16 U.S.C. § 824v(a), FERC promulgated
its Anti-Manipulation Rule, 18 C.F.R. § (“FERC Rule”) 1¢.2. 71 Fed. Reg. 4244 (January 26,
2006). Broadly speaking, the rule prohibits fraudulent practices “in connection with the purchase
or sale of electric energy or the purchase or sale of transmission services subject to the

jurisdiction of the Commission.” FERC Rule 1¢.2(a); see Simon v. KeySpan Corp., 694 F.3d

196, 207 (2d Cir. 2012) (the rule bars “fraud or deceit in connection with the sale of energy”),
cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 1998 (2013).

B. Investigation

In July 2007, FERC’s Office of Enforcement staff (“Enforcement’) commenced a
preliminary investigation into allegations of “manipulative trading by Barclays in physical
electricity markets in the western U.S.,” and notified Barclays that it was doing so. Petition
99 34, 35;> AR 6461 (FERC letter to Barclays).* On October 2, 2008, FERC authorized
Enforcement to commence a “formal investigation” of Defendants, thus granting Enforcement the

power to obtain testimony and other evidence through compulsory process. AR 8, 6647-48.°

3 According to the Petition, electricity products can be “either physical or financial.”

Petition at 5 9 21. “Physical products involved the obligation to deliver or receive physical
electricity at a particular location during a particular time.” Id. “Unlike physical positions,
financial positions did not entail physical obligations to deliver or receive electricity. Rather,
financial positions, including the fixed-for-floating financial swap (‘financial swap’) commonly
traded by Barclays, were financially settled through an exchange of payments.” 1d. at 7 q 26.

4 See 18 C.F.R. § 1b.1(b) (“preliminary investigation” definition); Enforcement of Statutes,
Regulations & Orders (“2008 Statement”), 123 FERC 61156, 62012 26 (2008) (“[1]f ... staff
determines that an investigation should be opened, it will notify the subject of that fact™).

> See 18 C.F.R. § 1b.1(a) (“formal investigation” definition); 2008 Statement, 123 FERC at
62012 n.18 (“staff can conduct a preliminary investigation or, if compulsory process is required,
seek an order from the Commission commencing a formal investigation™).

3
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C. Preliminary Findings & Responses

OnJune 10, 201Enforcementssued Preliminary Findings Letters@efendars stating
that ithad preliminarily concluded th&tefendarg had engaged in manipulative activity in
violation of the AntiManipulation Rule.AR 8, 6022301° The letters invitd Defendars to
respond with any additional information or rebuttals before Enforcement made a recommendatic
to FERC! SeeAR 6022301. OnAugust 29& 30, 2011,Defendans respondedo the
Preliminary Findings LettersAR 8.2

D. Notice of Alleged Violations anBule1b.19 Notice% Responses

On April 5, 2012, Enforcement issued®@taff Notice & Alleged Violations.” AR 8,
66637 It appears that settlement discussions ensued, but the matter was not reSeéved.
AR 94.1°

On May3, 2012 EnforcemenprovidedDefendand a FERC Rule 1b.19letter, notifying
Defendars of its intent to recommend that FER€3Sue an Order To Show Cause why FERC
should not institute an enforcement action agddesendars seeking penalties and

disgorgenents. AR 8, 637185, seeFERC Rulelb.19" The FERC Ruldb.19 lettes invited

6 See(QIRUFHPHQW RI 6WDWXWHYV 5HIJXODWIREBRCDQG 2
61247, 6337 , s>L@! VWDII EHOLHYHV WKH WEMHFW PD\
Commission requirements, it seeks authorization from the Director of the Office of Enforcement
WR SURYLGH D OHWWHU WR WKH VXEMHFW WKDW VHWYV IR
UHDVRQV LQ VXSSRUW RI WKRVH ILQGLQJV’

! AlthoughDefendanV ZHUH LQYLWHG WR SURYLGH :DGGLWLRQ
were operating under gave them no authority to compel the production of evidence or testimony
Such authority was granted only to FERC and its s&éel8 C.F.R. & E ) (5 & §”bdrs
DQG LQYHVWLJDWLQJ RIILFHUV 3PD\ DGPLQLVWHU RDWKYV
their attendance, take evidence, and require the production of any books, papers, corresponden
memoranda, contracts, agreements or other records rédévéhU PDWHULDO WR WKH

8 SeeAR 199492 (Barclays), 58882 (Brin), 767814 (Connelly), 63035 (Levine),
633670 (Smith);see alsp2009 Statemenl29FERC 61247 a62337 | SSW@KH VXEMHI
then respond to this preliminary findingsl W W H U~

9 See2009 Statemenil29 FERC 61247 #2338 |6 (authorizing Enforcement to issue
SIRWLFHV RI 3UHOLPLQDU\ 9LRODWLRQV”~

10 See2008 Statementl23 FERC 6156 at62014 ! 3I>V@WDII DWWHPSWV W
settlement with the subject of an inveatign before recommending an enforcement
SURFHHGLQJ’

1 3 Q WKH HYHQW WKH ,QYHVWLJDWLQJ 2IILFHU GHWHU
4
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Defendans to respond to the 1b.19 letter, advising that they could address any matter they want:
FERC to consider, and that they could provide additional evidé®eeAR 6371-85. OnJune
11, 2012 Defendans responded to the FERC Rule 1b.19 letters.8AR

E. Staff Report &0rder To Show Cause

Enforcementompiled aStaff Repor{undated)that <oncluded that Barclays Bank PLC
(Barclays) and its individual trademsanipulated the electricity markets in and aro@adifornia
from November 2006 to December 2008 in violation of 18 C.F.R. 5(2012) (Antt
Manipulation Rule or 1c.2). AR 90-158( Staff Reporf). Specifically:

Enforcement determined Respondents eadam a coordinated
scheme« to take the physical positions they had built anditigte

them in the cash marketsgenerally at a losstto impact the ICE
daily index settlements to benefit Barcldyeelated financial
positions that settled against thasdices.

Petition at9 | 36; AR92.

On October 31, 201FEERCdirectedDefendang to $iow causewhy theyshould not be
found D have violated 6 U.S.C. ©824\(a) and the AntManipulation Rule, and why they should
not be assessed civil penalties amfjorgements. AB6-89. The Staff Repbwas attached as
an exhibit.

The OSC further directedefendans to elect whether they would procdgd{a) an
administrative hearing before an Administrative Law Judge (AtL#e Commission prior to the
assesment of a penalty under section 31(d)(2), or (bjranediate penalty assessment by the
Commission under section 31(d)(3)(A)AR 88. Defendants were advised that if they chose the
immediate penalty assessméerdute, and if the Commissia@ssessed apaltywhich
Defendard failed to paywithin 60 days,¥he Commission will commence awtion in a United
States district court for an order affirming the penalty, in whictdisieict court may review the

assessment of the civil penattg novo” AR 88.

that an entity be made a defendant in a civil action to be brought by the Commission, the
,OQOYHVWLJIJDWLQJ 2IILFHU VKDOO « QRWLI\ WeKd$ tbirgaRelsieéh W K
D UHFRPPHQGDWLRQ ° & )5 t E

12 SeeAR 493532 (Barclays), 6895 (Brin), 87081 (Connelly), 6386122 (Levine),
642360 (Smith).
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1 F. Answers & Election
2 Defendantdiled Answersto the OSC on December 14, 20€2All Defendans elected
3 || the immediate penalty assessment rosethat they couldhave this case adjudicatdd novdoy
4 | afederal district court pursuatat sections3l(d)(l) and (3)(A) ofthe Federal Power ActifPAY,
5| 16 U.S.C. aa 823b(d)(I(3)(A).” SeeAR 15998 (Barclays)* On January 28, 2013,
6 | Enforcement replied tDefendant§Answers. AR958-1062.
7 G. Order Assessing Civil Penalti@sDistrict Court Filing
8 OnJuly 16, 2013, FERC issued its Order Assessing Civil Penaltiesl-8R In the
9 | Order, FERGstatedthatDefendant had violated 16 U.S.C.824v(a) and the ArdManipulation
10 | Rule, and it assessed civil penalties and disgorgeragatnst themJd. On Cctober9, 2013,
11 | FERC filed this actionseeking an affirmance of its Order Assessing Civil Penalties. ECE.No.
12 This Courthas jurisdiction under 16 U.S.€823b(d)(3)(B).
13 V. DE NOVO REVIEW PROCEDURES
14 This Court$ current task is to determine how it will proceed. apglicablestatute
15 || instructs theCourtto ¥eviewde novo the law and the facts involvéd 6 U.S.C.
16 | =823b(d)(3)(B). FERC, in agreement withefendars, asserts thatle novo review:
17 requires a Iresh, independent determination ghe matteffat
stake.” See Doe v. United State821 F.2d 694, 6998 (D.C.
18 Cir.1987) (en banc) (Ginsburd,R.B.) (citations omitted).
Essentially then, the district colgtcharge was to put itself in the
19 agency§ place, to make anew the same judgment earlier made by
the agency. Id. at 698. ThisCourt has fulfilled the de novo role
20 when he district judge made the same judgment eagligrusted
to the agency head on the basis ofinformation he found
21 sufficient to make the judgment, and without deferring to the prior
29 agencyconclusion on the same matter.
ECF No.125 at8 (FERC); ECF Nosl36 at23 (Barclays), 140 & (Smith), 141 a1 0 (Levine).
23
The dispute here is about what dilee law and the facts inixed " that will be the basis for
24
decision in thisCourt
25
26 | 13 AR 15998 (Barclays), 5387 (Brin), 696766 (Connelly), 88321 (Levine), 9257
(Smith).
27
- 14 See alsp53387 (Brin), 696766 (Connelly), 88821 (Levine), 9257 (Smith).
6
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FERC asserts thathelaw and the facts involvedarelimited to the evidence and
arguments that are contained in what it calls #aministrative record. ECF No.125 at22.
Specifically, it arguesissue exhaustiorbarsDefendarg from introducing new arguments or
evidence hereECF No0.166 atl5. FERC argues that there is no unfairness in this because
Defendand had the opportunity to submit additional factual affidatt the Commission from
any witnessesthey MKHG WKH &RPPLVYVLREQFWE2RBECE SdHB6 «
at13-14. FERC concedes that additional proceedings, including expert testimony and discovery
may be necessary to resolve how mDefendans should pay in disgorgement. In addition,
FERC asserts that it is prepared to offer any additional evidenGotivedeems necessary, and
is Prepared to proceed with a triad a review of the record or supplementary evidentiary
hearing is insufficiento decide the matter. ECF NaR atll.

Defendants argue thahe law and the facts involvééhcludes any arguments they wish
to make now, plus all evidence they can collect by means of discoz€fy N0.136 at55-61.
Defendants argue that they amitled to conduct discovery so that they can properly defend
themselves against FERECcharges Defendants point out that they never had the ability to test
the evidence submitted to FERX ensure its relevance, reliability, fairness, competence or
scientific validity.” ECF No.52 at14. In any event, they argue, the evidence Enforcement chose
to present to FERGin the administrative ecord” tconsists ofiherry picked transactional
data” and % handful of emails and instant messagédis ). SeeECFNo.52at13. Moreover,
no heutral trier of fact has ever resolved the matter iric@ntested evidentiary proceeding.
ECF No0.52 at14-15.

Defendants also argue that basic fairness, and their Due Process rights, require that they
have the opportunity for a full contested hearing in@vosirt ECF N0.136 at61-63. They
assert that they never intended to waive their right ¥olbadjudicative procesSwhen they
elected to go to district court. ECF Ng2 atl4. To the contrary, they assert tR&RC$
Enforcement staff assured them that they could conduct discovery ordisttiet court case was
filed. ECF No0.136 atl8. Moreover,tiey arguethe applicablestatute, 16 U.S.C.

a 823b(d)(3)(B), as interpreted by FERC itself in a policy statencatis fora de novo tial.
7
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ECF No0.136 at60.!®
V. ANALYSIS

A. The Meaning of the Statute

The Courtfirst looks tothe language and structuretbé applicable statutéo determine

whether discoveris required.

The first step in interpreting a statute is to determine whether the
language at issue has a plain and unambiguous meaning with regard
to the particular dispute in the ca&s This often requires
examirfing] not only the specific provision at issue, but also the
structure of the statute as a wholegluding its object and policy.

If the plain meaning of the statute is urlAguous that meaning
controls. If the statutory language is ambmus, thenwe consult
legislative history.

Wilson v. @mm ¥, 705 F.3d 980, 9888 (9th Cir.2013 (citations and internal quotation marks

omitted). Thedisputed statutory language provides tiiger FERC has assessed a penalty and

waited 60 days

the Commission shall instituten actionin the appropriate district
court of the United States for an order affirming the assessment of
the civil penalty. The court shall have authorityégiew de novo

the law and the facts involvednd shall have jisdiction to enter a
judgment enforcing, modifying, and enforcing as so modified, or
setting aside in whole or in Patch assessment.

16 U.S.C. @ 823b(d)(3)(Kemphasis on disputed terms add¥d)
1

15 %%DUFOD\V DVVHUWYV WKDW WKLV FDVH LQYROYH
which can only be resolved by a neutral fatt Q GHU DW WULDO ™ LidWKH\
summary judgment. ECF Nt36 at WKLV PDWWHU 3ZLOO EH DGM
PRWLRQV IRU VXPPDU\ MXGJPHQW D Q Gouttanticipatds bh@@ W
following discovery Plaintiff will renew its motion as a dispositive ti@n under summary
judgment practice. Since the matter may be resolved by summary judgment motiQusjrthe
need not speculate on what other procedures might be warranted.

V GLV
FDQQ
XGLF
HG D

16 7KH DSSOLFDEOH VWDWXWH DXWKRUL]HV )thar& WR DV
" SHU GD\ DIJDLQVW DQ\ S H-ahWativikKgRowsloR @ D&FRA, W k
16 U.S.C. 824v(a). 16 U.S.C. 82%-1(b). The statute further provides that the procedures of
16 U.S.C. 8823b(d) shall govern the assessmddt. That section, in turn, provides that before
FERC assesses a penalty, it musipfbyide the persons against whom the penalty is to be
assessed a notice of the proposed penalty, anaf@2)n them their right to elect the provisions
of 16 U.S.C. ©823b(d)(3 or (d)(3). 16 U.S.C. 823b(d)(1). If the notified persons choose
Section823b(d)(3),aDbHIHQGDQWYVY GLG KHUH )(5& 3SURPSWO\" DV\
within 60 days, the disputed statutory language governs. 16 U.823B¢d)(3)(A), (d)(3(B).

8



Case 3:15-cv-00452-MHL Document 85-1 Filed 03/31/17 Page 9 of 27 PagelD# 1461

I

~N N W

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Case 2:13-cv-02093-TLN-DB Document 203 Filed 03/30/17 Page 9 of 27

1.  The structure of the statute

a. The election
The structure of the statute, especially when viewed in light of the governing regulations
and FERC § policies and procedures, exposes the flaw in FERC § position. Defendants who elect
the ALJ route are entitled to conduct full discovery, and are not saddled Z L W Kadbi@isttative
UHFRUG ~ FRPSL'OFERC Effery b Soherent explanation for why the statute would
authorize full discovery before an ALJ but silently deny it if Defendants chose to go to district
court.'®

Nothing in the wording or structure of the statute warrants this incongruous result.

17 Y(5&TV RZQ UHJXO DM pr&RdédveslappHodbic tR6da Méaring. See 18

& )5 3DUW 35XOHV RI BUDFWLKFR+HDPWRKHE X U H8 Q GBHEXUE SA
UHIJXODWLRQV WKH SDUWLFLSDWLQJ Si}ttMittaltMddnda,@ 3SUH
make such objections and arguments, and to conduct such cross-examination, as may be
QHFHVVDU\ WR DVVXUH WUXH DQG IXOO GLVFORVXUH R
submit written testimony. Id. § 285.307. HowHYHU 3*>D@Q\ ZLWQHVV VXEP
must be available for cross- H [ D P L Q DIW§ BX$06. The presiding officer decides on the
admissibility of proffered evidence. Id. § 385.509. Regarding discovery, the regulations provide

W K D WeipabtbnihWWohtain discovery of any matter, not privileged, that is relevant to the

subject matter of the pending proceeding, including the existence, description, nature, custody,
condition, and location of any books, documents, or other tangible things, and the identity and
ORFDWLRQ RI SHUVRQV KDYLQJ DQ\ NQRZLBBS@WK).RTheD Q\ GL
discovery methods made availableto WKH SDUWLHYV DUH 3GDWD UHTXHVWYV
requests for production of documents or things (Rule 406), depositions by oral examination (Rule

404), requests for inspection of documents and other property (Rule 407), and requests for
DGPLVVLRQ 3d&{&BB5.403(a). Non-parties may be compelled to provide testimony or
documents. Id. § 385.409(a) (subpoena).

I W
LW

I8 At oral argument, FERC asserted that by making this election, Plaintiff S3UHMHFWHG~ W
3IRUPDO DGMXGLFDWLRQ™ RSWLRQ@RDY DL @mIMEOHQXWGEHG H3CQ
informal adjudication [under 5 U.S.C. § 555] contained in Option 2 followed by the CourtfV GH
QRYR UHYLHZ =~ 7UR& PDINHYV QW PHQWLRQ RI WKLV 3LQIR
the papers it filed in this Court, nor in any administrative communication with Defendants. In

any event, there are several problems with this argument. First, FERC does not explain why

Defendants would be entitled to another full, formal, adjudicatory process if they chose the ALJ

route, but are not entitled to it here. Second, FERC does not claim that it ever advised Defendants
WKDW RSWLQJ IRU SLQIRUPDO B35 MalGirdelDddapfR@tionoQis H U 8
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure once the case got into federal court (or that Defendants should
somehow know this) 7KLUG )(5&TVWDUKXPBQWXIRLFDWLRQ™ PXVW
+an order only results from an adjudication, and FERC issued an order so therefore there must

have been an adjudication (see Transcript at 12) =is simply a tautology, and is rejected on that

ground. Fourth, F (5 & 'V DddthppPars to be contradictory, because FERC concedes that the
RUGHU XQGHU UHYLHZ KHUH (XPRdd/nact bpplyDeCause thatbbl) V F U L S
DSSOLHV WR 3ILQDO DLUM RERNGHRWIIRRIQWKHUWUKHW R K@ Y W EHH
FERC order would have tobe SWKH ZKROH Rtk B IS\DS RV IRV IDR @51(6) 8 6 &
(emphasis added).
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Indeed the onlystatutorydifference between the twavailableproceduress the election itself.
That is because the election occaiter the full ladministrative recordhasbeen compiled.
Thus, regardlessfavhich election is made, Enforcement has already conducted the investigation,
issued its preliminary findings and invited responses, conducted settlement negotiations, issued
notice of alleged violations, issued its 1b.19 letter and invited respoimsaddition, regardless
of the election, FERC has already issued its Order To Show Cause, andDefgadand to file
Answers. Itis in those Answers tldgferdans make their electioaf whether to proceed with
an ALJ orgo to district court.

Theone thing that does distinguish defenddptssition at that point, is that if defendants

choose the ALJ route, FERC simply notifies defendants of their opportunity for a hearing before

an ALJ. SeeStatement of Administrative Policy Regarding the Prot@mséssessing Civil

Penaltieg 2006 Statemeri}, 117 FERC |} 61,31762,531 }1i(1)(a)(i) (2006) If defendants

chooseahedistrict courtrouteinstead, FERC determinesvithout obtaining any additional
evidence or argumentwhether a violation exists, and if s8S U R P &386e83€s the penalty and
later, files the action in the district coudeeid. at62, 532 }11(1)(b)(1), (b)(2) 16 U.S.C.
a 823b(d)(3) FERC does not explain why this one administrative trigger diaeriyDefendang
thediscoverythatthey would be entitled to if they had made the other elec@eMaxim
Power Corp.196 F.Supp.3d at197(Ji] f anything, by directing FERC t@romptlyasses§
penalties under Option 2, the stattgkls FERC noto spend time on proceedingsor to
assessing the penally

FERC argues that fuiroceeding$n the district court would be &lo over to which
Defendarg are not entitledECF N0.166 atl3-17. Yet the election to go the ALJ royteovides
for full proceedingsfter the ladministrative recordhas been compiled FERCoffers no
explanation for whya ‘o over’is warranted with the ALJ route but not with the district court
route. A much more sensibl@terpretation of the statute adfered byDefendang, namely, that
%¥he administrative investigation wapeeludeto adjudication of FER® claims either in an
administrative or federal court proceeding, at Defendfpison ~ ECF No.52 at20 (emphasis

added).
10
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In any event, theris no do over here. Defendants are requesting a contested hearing
before a neutral decisiemaker, with discovery. They have never had the opportunity to conduct
discovery, could not compel witnesses to give testimony, had no opportunity texeamsse
witnesses, and had no opportunity to make their case before a neutral deakemn
Defendarg are asking for the opportunity to do those things for the first time here, @diws

Basic fairness also works against FERi@terpretation of thetatute FERChas not
shown, or even assertdtat they ever warnedefendans that making this election would waive
thediscovery theyare entitled tabtainwith the ALJ election.To the contraryFERC$
enforcement staff assur@efendard that they wuld be entitled to conduct discovery if they
made the district court electioMR 1029 n.333 Ji] f the Commission determines to send this
matter to federal court, staff may choose to offer calculations from testifying experts into
evidence, an®arclays and the individual traders will have the opportunity to conduct
appropriate discovery) (emphasis addedj Moreover, FERCS institutional positiontas
opposed to its litigation positiortis that defendants are entitled téde novo trial. See

Procedures for the Assessment of Civil Penaltieder Section 31 of the Federal Povet

(31988 Procedurey, 53 Fed. Reg. 32035, @28 (August 23, 1988)awhen Rule 1509 district

court procedures are followeithe assessment of civil [penaltiés] theCommissionnerely
triggers the process leading to a de novo trial ) (emphasis addedy. In light of this, it would be
unjust to advis®efendans now, after their election, that thasenot entitled to the promised

discovery after all, and that thayenot entitled to the promisedle novo trial ?*

19 Despite its opemended assurances, FERC now argues that the only discovery needed is t
determine the correct amount of disgorgemé&eeECF No0.52 at SSW@KH &RPPLVVL
introduce expert testimony on the amount of disgorgement at the apprépretéor which
GLVFRYHU\ PD\ EH DSSURSULDWH" S>D@W WKH WLPH \
Respondents would have a full opportunity to conduct discovery relating to any evidence (exper
testimony or otherwise) the Commission offatshat time in support of its disgorgement
FDOFXODWLRQ’ +RZHYHU WKHUH ZDV QR VXFK OLPLWD)
Defendarsg (and FERC) the assurance of discovery in district court.

20 FERC indicates that this statement is not to bedealipon.SeeECF No.52 at10 n.2.
That issues addressed below.

2L $W RUDO DUJIXPHQW )(5 & TDheféndaaar-saveXNel bt WobBmwW K C
E\ VLPSO\ UHTXHVWLQJ WKDW WKH &RPPLVV dReRdSeiddP L W \
requqHVW WR JR EDFN WR WKH &30P,RogéiieR QI hearigmitd VF UL S W

11
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b. Issue Exhaustion anti¢ 3administrative record

FERC argues that thiSourt$ consideration should be limitealthe ladministrative
record,” invoking the doctrine ofissue exhaustion.FERC argues that ti@ourtshould told
that they{Defendarg] waived all facts and legal arguments that they cbalek, but chose not to
present to the CommissionECF No0.166 atl1l. FERC points out that its OSC specifically
directedDefendars as folows: dn their answers, Respondents should address any matter, legal,
factual or procedural, that they would urge in the Commis$ioonsideration of this mattér.
ECF No0.166 atl3 (citing AR88). Moreover, as noted aboveefendans had the opportutyi to
present evidence and arguments at other points during the administrative piteesssERC
argueghatDefendang should be precluded from introducing new evidence becauséthewn
full opportunity, without limitation, to present any argumeartglevidence to the Commission
before FERC issued its Assessment Or@seECF N0.166 atl5.

i Issue exhaustion does not apply here

FERC argues thatpbsent exceptional circumstances, a reviewing court will refuse to
consider contentions not presenbedore the administrative proceeding at the appropriate fime.

ECF No0.166 at15 (quotingGetty Oil Co. v. Andrus607 F.2d 253, 25@th Cir. 1979).

However, the cases FERC cites address the doctrine ofeazbaestion in situations where a
federal court is reviewinfinal agency actiomade reviewable by the Administrative Procedure
Act, or its equivalentSeeSims v. Apfe] 530 U.S. 103 (200@yeviewing final agency decision

to deny Social Security benefits, the Court holds that plaintiff did not waive issues even though

discovery. It appears that this conseould begiven by FERC order, not by counsel who is
arguingthe caseincourtee 8 6 & $ E G & Srobh@eihisHOHFWLR
paragraph apply may not be revoked except WittKk H FRQVHQW R \WdeHIsgIRPP LV

C.F.R *>D@Q\ HOHFWLRQ WR KDYH WKH SURFHG X
revoked after the 3day election period in paragraph ¢d)this section, without the consent of
WKH &R P P IssedlsREQRACOM LLC and Michael Rosenbarg55 FERC 61284 36

) (5 & -XQH 3,Q WKH 0D\ 2UGHU WKH &RPPL
opportunity to rescind their election lealson their assertion that they required discovery, so that
they could be afforded discovery by an ALJ at the hearing should the ALJ find the requested
GLVFRYHU\ UHOHYDQW" & RoUQI\H O VK'Y YA @QVRMR G LW RI FDVQHN G ( §
permittingDeferdants to rescind their election, or indicating that a request to revoke would be
granted. In any event, the possibility of such an electieven assuming FERC would consent
does not explain whpefendants can be deprived of process when, as theymessly
permitted to do by statute, they instead elected to come to federal court.

12
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she failed to raise them before the agefdinal decision was madd)nited States v. L.A.

Tucker Truck Lines344 U.S. 331952) (challenge to Interstate Commerce Commis§ibnal

order issuing a certificate of public convenien€ggity Oil Co. v. Andrus607 F.2d 253 (9th

Cir. 1979) (reviewing final agency action, Court holds that objection was timely because it was
raisaed before completion of the administrative proce#s).FERC itself argues, this action does
not involve the review of final agency action under the APA or its equivagessECF N0.166
at11-12; Transcript at 8.

Indeed, therés no final agency actioat all,as that tem is used in the cited casedere,
thedecision under review is FEREassessment of penalties and disgorgements. However, the
statute and implementing regulations and policy statements plainly expect that this assessment,
and the shsequent 6@lay waiting period, is merely a mechanism for getting the proceeding into
district court. Unlike a final agency decision or order, this assessment did not finectand
immediate ... effect on the dag-day businessof Barclays or thdefendars*? SeeFTCyv.

Standard Oil Co. of Californjat49 U.S. 232, 23@980)(internal quotation marks omitted). Nor

did it have 2he status of lawfor which 3mmediate compliance witfits] terms was expected

To the contrary, compliance with thesessment order was expressly not expected; it was
expected thabefendang wouldnotcomply,as this was the only statutory mechanism by which
defendants who had made this election could challenge the assessment.

Even if there were final agency action here, issxigaustion is not automatic. Rather,
Yequirements of administrative issue exhaustion are largely creatures of 5t&taotg.530 U.S.
at107. FERC identifies no statute that requires issue exhatrstieneven though Congress
plainly knows how to require it when it wishes to do See, e.q.15 U.S.C.977i (a) (on judicial
review of an order of the Securities and Exchange Commis3ign, objection to the order of the
Commission shall be considerkd the court unless such objection shall have been urged before

the Commission); 29 U.S.C.A. & 16(&) (when National Labor Relations Board seeks judicial

22 This is not to dispute the individuBlefendan § DV V H U W LR Q VthatwheRha& O D
been bankrupted and their lives had been ruined by these proceedings.

13
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1 | enforcement of its order, “[n]o objection that has not been urged before the Board, its member,

2 || agent, or agency, shall be considered by the court, unless the failure or neglect to urge such

3 | objection shall be excused because of extraordinary circumstances™).”

4 FERC'’s regulations do make clear that when Defendants filed their Answers to the order
5 || to show cause, they were required to make a clear and concise statement of the disputed factual
6 | allegations, the law relied upon, and all defenses. 18 C.F.R. § 385.213(c). However, it does not
7 | state or otherwise indicate that Defendants would be limited to those statements in the district

8 | court proceeding.

9 ii.  Defendants’ opportunity to present evidence
10 FERC argues that Defendants “had the opportunity to submit additional factual affidavits
11 | tothe Commission from any witnesses they wished the Commission to consider ....” ECF No. 52

12 | at 8. That is not accurate. It ignores the fact that Defendants have never had the power to compel
13 | any witness to give an affidavit (or a deposition, or to submit to cross-examination).

14 Therefore, even if Defendants knew of witnesses whose testimony would convincingly

15 | refute any market manipulation claims, Defendants could not compel those witnesses to submit to
16 || a deposition or to produce the evidence that would convince FERC that the charges had no merit.
17 | Instead, Defendants were forced to rely upon Enforcement’s investigation, and whatever evidence
18 | they could obtain on their own from volunteers, in their efforts to convince FERC not to file this

19 | lawsuit.

20

= Indeed, Congress has done so in the FPA itself, but only when the defendants choose the

21 | other option into federal court, namely, the route that includes an ALJ hearing and an appeal to
the Court of Appeals. The statute provides, in that case, that judicial review will be had in

22 | accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA™). 16 U.S.C. § 823b(d)(2)(B) (“Any
person against whom a penalty is assessed under this paragraph may, within 60 calendar days

23 | after the date of the order of the Commission assessing such penalty, institute an action in the
United States court of appeals for the appropriate judicial circuit for judicial review of such order
24 | in accordance with chapter 7 of Title 5°). The APA, in turn, requires issue exhaustion. See
Native Ecosystems Council v. Dombeck, 304 F.3d 886, 899-900 (9th Cir. 2002) (reviewing

25 | agency action under the APA, the court states: “Because plaintiffs raised the issue of Forest Plan
amendment procedures sufficiently for the agency to review these procedures and to conclude
26 | that the Forest Service complied with NFMA, we hold that the plaintiffs exhausted their
administrative remedies as to the issues they raise before us. This result comports with the

27 | purposes of the exhaustion requirement of avoiding premature claims and ensuring that the

’8 agency be given a chance to bring its expertise to bear to resolve a claim.”)

14
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1 As Defendand point out,Jt]here is a fundamental difference between forcipgréy to

2 | rely on and develop its defenses based entirely on the discovery taken by its opponent and

3 | allowing that party to engage in its own independent discamesypport of its own defenses.

4 | ECF No.52 at22. It defies notions of fairness and common sense tha¢higwould continue

5 || to denyDefendans the opportunity to produce evidence, under compulsion, that they believe

6 | could refute the charges against them.

7 iii.  The *administrative record

8 FERC argues that this proceeding should be restricted téadmeinistrative record.

9 | However,it cites no authority for this proposition. To the contréng applicable statute makes
10 | no mention of arfadministrative record. Seel6 U.S.C. = 823b()(3)(B). FERCS$ regulations,
11 | and its policy statements also make no mention of an administrative r&eede.qg.18 C.F.R.

12 | ealb.1, et seq. (investigations), 385.101, et seq. (rules of pradigeh apart fronDefendars 9
13 | slant on the record asibhg <herry picked from the evidence available, it is clear that this
14 | record contains only selected transcripts, selected pieces of evidence, and selected trading
15 | records, out of all the evidence the Enforcement staff collected. FERC has not idanyified
16 | statute, regulation or policy that its staff was following in creating this reaadypon which a
17 | $4879 million assessmentould rest
18 Congress plainly knows what an administrative record is, and how to limit court review to
19 | thatrecord.See, e.g.16 U.S.C.a 839f(e)(2) (t]he record upon review of such final actions
20 || shall be limited to the administrative record compiled in accordance with this chagpger
21 | U.S.C. 2405(g) (As part of the Commission8ranswer the Commissioner of Social Security
22 | shall file a certified copy of the transcript of the record including the evidence upon which the
23 | findings and decision complained of are bas€de court shall have power to entgpon the
24 | pleadings and transcript of the recora judgment affirming, naifying, or reversing the decision
25 | of the Commissioner of Social Security, with or without remanding the cause for a rehgaring.
26 | (emphasis addedd2 U.S.C. ©9613(j)(1) (Judicial review of any issues concerning the adequacy
27 | of any response action takenordered by the President shall be limited to the administrative
28 | record). Congressn this statutdias noexpressly limitedhis Court§ review to any

15
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sadministrative record®

Indeed, Congress itsdiis madelear thatde novo review,as contragtd withreviews
limited to the @administrative record are entirely differentypes of reviews See, e.9.30 U.S.C.
a 1719(j) (regarding judicial review of a final order assessing a penalty by the Secretary of the
Interior, gr]eview by the district aart shall be only on the administrative record and not de
novo’); 7 U.S.C. ®2023(individual aggrieved by the Secretary of Agricult§rdecision may
obtain judicial review” in the district court, whict&shall be a trial de novex, except that
judicial review of determinations regarding claims made pursuant to section 2025(c) of this title
shall be a review on the administrative recd@mphasis addedHere, Congress halrected
the Courtto conducta de novo review,but has not expresslimited thatreviewto an
administrative record.

Even if the Courtwanted to limitits review to aredministrativerecord FERC has offered
no explanation for why the onedlaims to haveompiledis a proper administrative recor@he
recordheredoes not, for examplesonsist of the entire investigative record compiled by FEBRC
Enforcement staff. The investigative record contains, at a minirfiarexcess of one million
pages of documentshundreds of thousands of electricity tradesyd 25 day of investigative
depositions of Barclayfurrent and former employees DQG Rl FHUWD.LQGCWKLUG
No.52 at6. Yetthe Jadministrativerecord” consists of (1jhose portions of the investigative
documentary and datacord selected by Enforcement staff for presentation to FER@hose
16 days ofdeposition transcripts Enforcement selected for presentation to FEB@vidence

Defendarg were able to assemble from their owrords and from volunteers, and @Fiefing

24 At oral argumentFERC cited FERC v. Silkman1:16cv-0205 JAW, ECF No95 (D. Me.
January 26, 2017 RU WKH SURSRVLWLRQ WKNDLVR QV KRIQ MW KB VDB ® L34
record. But in Silkman the cowtated W K [B]Wer¥eviewing the briefs and evidentiary record

on the Show Cause Orders, the Commission issued orders on August 29, 2013 assessing civil
penalties against Lincoln, CER QG O0U 6 LKeNPHERC, in its Assessment Ordezyer
VWDWHG adKiDisffatWeKOHHEFERUG™ ZDV QRU WKDW LW KDG EDVHG
if it had done so, there is no guidance anywhere as to what goes intorsaohdand nonotice

to Defendants, or thi€ourt, of exactly what that record is.

25 Of the 25 days of investigative depositions, 16 are included in theS&R.
AR 10825555 (Brin 2 days, Connelly 4 days, Dhabliwala 1 day, Gerome 1 day, Gold 1 day,
Levine 2 daysRainess 1 day, Smith 2 days, and Vath 2 days).

16
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and argument from EnforcemestaffandDefendans. SeeAR 1-8,488. FERC offers no
explanation for why Enforcement did not present the omittedighents, data, and transcripts,
nor does it explain why thi€ourtshould not consider theffl.

2. The langage of the statute

This Court Imust give substantial deference to an agd&hityerpretation of its own

regulations. Thomas Jefferson Uwersityv. Shalala512 U.S. 504, 512 (1994)ecker v.
NorthwestEnvironmental Defens€tr., 133 S. Ct. 1326, 1332013)( yw]hen an agency

interprets its own regulation, the Cous,ageneral rule, defers to it unless that interpretation is
plainly erroneous or ingwsistent with the regulatioh (internal quotation marks omitted).
FERCS$ own institutional interptation of thelanguage of this statute, and FER@entically
worded implementing regulatioshows that in its institutional roleas opposed to its role as a
party to litigation tFERC agrees th@efendans are entitled to fullliscoveryin this Court

As noted, e statute calls for FERC to institute an action where the court will conduct a
Yeview de novo of FERC$ Assessment Order. 16 U.S.828b(d)(3)(B). In 1988, FERC
promulgatedl8 C.F.R. ©885.1509 (Rule 1509, which implements this pr@sion of the statute.
1988 Procedure$3 Fed. Reg. 3WB5 (final rule promulgating 18 C.F.R. 885.150111).

Contemporaneously with promulgating this regulation, FERC interpretaddtimplicitly, the

identically worded language of the governing s&at(i Specifically, FERC stated thavhen

26 JRU H[DPSOH QXPHURXV 3LQVWDQW MEHN\MIzdkeélyand X W
RWKHU VWDWHPHQWY DOOHJHGO\ PDGH E\ RU WR +XQ]H }
See, e.g.AR 110n.68, 131 n.148, 135, 991, 1488, 1462, 15885, 163537, P47, 404849,

464243, 465355, 4759, 476263,495658, 497178, 498681, 500405, 500708, 558681,

558586, 5620, 5651, 57701, 60626116 According to HunzekefV VZRUQ GHFODUDYV
Enforcement degsed him twice ECF No.153 at6 ;15 3)(5& GHSRVHG PH WZLFH
with its investigation in this matter. During those depositions, | provided testimony regarding
VHYHUDO RI WKH FRPPXQLFDWLRQV DQG RWYeHihe WRSLFV (
transcripts of his depositiomse Q RW L Q F O Xa@rilrstriatye Vé¢oHl,ahd FERC offers no
explanation for the omission6 XFK D Q 3D G P L Q L ¢aNrdtihévtheybldsit/fora RebtEal
SDGMXGLFDW Lorlgy thisEGout5 &

It doesnot matter whether this is consideredraterpretation of the regulation or of the
YHUQLQJ VWDWXWH EHFDXVH WKH\ DUH LGHQWLFDOO\
HWDWLRQ RI LWV JRYHUQLQJ V Ve tetswdirk LV SODL
WKH LQW H Q WrdRidn&d&a@al U. HMAeM6Y FROG9M 0084 (9th

LQWHUQDO TXRWDWLRQ PDUNV RPLWWHG 1L
QF\YV DQVZHU LOHEBFEQ'GWRIX BWI_HRLORRYNLdHBbtaNowW D W
PLWWHG $V GLVFXVVHG LQ WKH WH[W )(5&TV
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Rule 1509 district court procedures are followtbe, assessment of civil [penaltids] the

Commissiormerely triggers the process leading to a de novo.tridB88 Procedure$3 Fed.

Reg.at32038 (emphasis alkd).

FERC$ 1988 position is entirely consistent with its much more recent unconditional
assurance tBefendang that Ji] f the Commission determines to send this matter to federal court,
staff may choose to offer calculations from testifying expertsentdence, anBarclays and the
individual traders will have the opportunity to conduct appropriate discoveir 1029 n.333
(emphasis addedf FERC$ current litigating positiontthat no discovery is warrantetdoes
not follow from the language diie statute or the regulation, and would work a significant
unfairness ofDefendans ?°

FERC arguethat its 1988 interpretation of the regulatiopsedated the enactment of the
Energy PolicyAct of 2005," and that its current interpretation, as statea more recent policy
statement, is thddefendans are entitled tdde novo review. ECF No.52 at10n.2. TheCourt
notes that FER® paperswhile recountinghis history, does not expressly argue that its 1988
interpretation of the applicable regudat has been disavowest overrulecby FERC$ current
institutional position. As far as tl&ourtcan tell, FERC§ institutional position has not changed.

The language of 16 U.S.C823b(d)(3)(B) has not changed since 1888nd the
language of 18 C.F.R:1509(b) has not changed since 188&ccordingly, it is not clear why

construction of the statute.
28 FERC now argues that discovery should be limited to determinesperdement

amount. See, e.g.ECF No.52 at12. However, there was no such express limitation stated when
Enforcement offere®efendars (and FERC) the assurance of discovery in district court.

29 Accordingly, theCourtneed not wade into the complicatgdters of determining what
OHYHO RI GHIHUHQFH LI DQ\ WR JLYH B&ePresifi& HigtoFcalu U H Q
$VVIQ Y 3UHVLGLRG7UXVW Q WK &LU GHIHUHQFF
OLWLIJDWLQJ SRVLWIRRQWKH LBINVECBHS HQGERPVWDQFHV’

% SeeP.L.99 6WDW 2FWREHU 37KH FRXUW
review de novo the law and the facts invohaet shall have jurisdiction to enter a judgment
enforcing, modifying, and enforcingadR PRGLILHG RU VHWWLQJ DVLGH L
(emphasis added).

31 Seel988 Procedure$3 FedReg. at32040 (promulgating 18 C.F.R = E 3> @
the civil penalty is not paid within 60 calendar days after the assessment order is is&sed un
paragraph (a) of this section, the General Counsel, unless otherwise directed by the Commissio
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the addition of antmanipulation authority in the Energy Policy Act of 2005, and increasing the
amount of penalties FERC could ses#e16 U.S.C. ©82%0-1, would have any effectiothe
interpretation bthe unchanged provisions of 16S.C. ©823b(d)(3)(B), or the unchanged
regulationggoverningthe assessment of penalties.

FERC points out that a more recent policy statement does not contéditethevo trial
language, and instead repeats the language of the statute, which caésitw de novo. ECF

No.52 atll n.2, citing2006 StatementFERCS$ description of the two statements is correct, but

FERC does not explain how this new language effectedualiagmn of the prior interpretation of
the unchanged statute and regulation. To the contrary, rather than stating that a trial was no
longer permitted, it simply adopted the language of the stduigjagevhich had not changed
since it was added togHaw in 1986.

At oral argument, FERC asserted that it had overruled that posit6hlRACOM LLC

and Michael Rosenberd55 FERC 61,284t | 35 (F.E.R.C.June 17, 2016)SeeTranscript

at30. However ETRACOM *which in any case is an Order Assessiigl Penalties, not a

policy statementtdoes not even mention the 1988 policy statement. Moreover, the dogiment
discussion of the review standard appears to confirm, rather than overrule, the 1988 policy
statemen$§ position that the electionto gottdi GHUDO FRXUW 3PHUHO\ WULJJF
D GH QRYR WULDO~

The CommissiofV SRVLWLRQ LV WKDW WKH 3DXWK
QRYR™ SURYLGHG E\ VWDWXWH XQGHU )3% V
substantial procedural discretion to the district couretagpon the

particular circumstances of the cada.some cases, the court may

decide that a review of the order itself and of the record of the
administrative proceeding provides a sufficient basis for
determination. But, in other caséise court has dicretion to decide

that supplemental evidence is needed and that discovery is
warranted

ETRACOM, 155 FERC 61,284 | 35 (emphasadded).FERC knows how toverrule prior

policy statementa/hen it wishes to do sd&seeEnforcemenof Statutes, Regulatios Orders

(2008 Statemeri}, 123 FERC 61,156, 62010 (May 15, 2008] Ja]ccordingly, we issue this

will institute an action in the appropriate United States District Court for an order affirming the
DVVHVVPHQW RI WKH FLYLO SHQDOW\"

19
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1 | Revised Policy Statement, which supersedes our 2005 Policy Statement”) (emphasis added). It

2 || did not do so here.

3 Moreover, FERC offers no logical explanation for re-interpreting either the language of

I

the statute or the regulation in the way it suggests. The enactment of the Energy Policy Act of
2005 increased the penalties FERC could seek from $10,000 per day, to $1 million per day. See
Section 1284(e)(2) of the Energy Policy Act of 2005, P.L. 109-58, 119 Stat 594; 16 U.S.C.

~N N W

§ 8250-1(b). FERC offers no explanation for the counterintuitive notion that a 100-fold increase
8 || in Defendants’ potential liability should reduce the process they are entitled to.
9 Finally, nothing in the wording of the statute gives any hint that such divergent results

10 | would obtain depending on whether the assessed party chose the ALJ route or the district court

11 | route.

12 3. Specific language

13 a. “Review”

14 FERC argues that by using the word “review,” Congress cannot have intended to

15 || authorize the district court “to look beyond the record submitted to the Commission in the
16 | administrative proceeding” by Enforcement and the Defendants. ECF No. 52 at 11. In support,
17 | FERC cites Kearney v. Standard Ins. Co., 175 F.3d 1084, 1094 (9th Cir. 1999) (en banc), cert.

18 | denied, 528 U.S. 964 (1999), a case decided under the Employment Retirement Income Security
19 | Actof 1974 (“ERISA”), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1001-1461. ECF No. 166 at 12. In Kearney, the district
20 | court’s review of the ERISA benefits denial was governed by the “de novo” standard. Kearney,
21 175 F.3d at 1090. The Ninth Circuit held in Kearney that under that standard, the district court
22 || should look only at the record that was presented to the ERISA administrator, whose decision was
23 | under review. Id. at 1091 (the district judge did not abuse his discretion in limiting review “to the
24 | evidence that was before the administrator””). FERC commendably concedes that “the FPA

25 | differs from ERISA,” although it argues that “the Court has similar discretion here as part of its
26 || denovo review.” ECF No. 166 at 13.

27 In fact, the difference between the de novo review authorized in Kearney, and the de novo

28 | review authorized here, goes much deeper than FERC’s concession. Under the ERISA statute,
20
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1 | the administrator whose decision is being reviewadafiduciary for the person seeking
2 | benefits** Neither FERC, nor its enforcement staff, avenallegedto befiduciaries for the
3 | Defendarg. However,a principalreason for limiting review to the administrative record
4 | Kearneywasprecisely because the court wasdled upon to review a fiducia§/decision.
5 || Kearney 175 F.3dat 1094 (The means that suggestself for accomplishing trial of disputed
6 | facts,while preserving the value of the fiduciary review procedkeeping costs and premiums
7 | down, and minimizing diversion of benefit money to litigation expeisseial on the
8 || administrative recordin cags where the trial court does not find it necessary uvdegeluzo
9 | to consiler additionakvidence) (citing Mongeluzov. Baxter Travenol Disability Ben. Pla#6
10 || F.3d 938, 943 (9th Cir.1996)emphases added).
11 At no time wad=ERCS$ role,or that of itsenforcement staff, that of a fiduciariRather,
12 | FERCis the enforceof the governing statut@nd therefore acts as a civil prosecutor before this
13 | Court TheCourthas no reason whstkever to question the diligence or fairness of the
14 | Enforcement staffr the FERC itself* The Courtsees nothing in the record before itimubt
15 | that FERC iomposed of person®f conscience and intellectual discipline, capable of judging a
16 | particular controversy fairly on the basis of its own circumstandésthrow v. Larkin, 421 U.S.
17 | 35, 55 (1975) (quotintnited States v. Morgar313 U.S. 409, 421(1941)). However, FERC
18 | issuing the Assessment Ordeais nothearing and decidp on the basis of the eviderice
19 | presented a Tontested hearingas was the statexamining Board inWithrow, or the abinet
20 | officers charged by Congress witjudicatoryfunctions”in Morgan®* FERC is wrongn
21 | 32 S7TKH SURFH &XMWDHWWWH UHTXLUHYV IRU GLVSXWHG FODL
to any participant whose claim for benefits has been denied for a full and fair review by the
22| DSSURSULDWH QDPHG ILGXFLDU\ RI KeéafreyGa3 FRBYA160® GHQ\L
23 (quoting 29 U.S.C. & 1133(2)).
33 For example, in its Staff Report, the Enforcement Staff reported to FERC that Barclays
24 | had given its full cooperation during the investigation. 2g®.
25 | 3 SeeMorgan 421 U.S. at HPSKDVLVY DGGHG  hifswolid bB tddr&X P H Q
properly directed at a defense of its ALJ procedures, where it would be called upon to render a
26 | fair decision as adjudicator after having been exposed to evidence during the investigative phas
27 No specific foundation has been presen@mdsuspecting that the
Board had been prejudiced by its investigation or would be disabled
28 from hearing and deciding on the basis of the evidence to be
21
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arguing thatiny alleged lack dfobjectivity” by Enforcement or FERC amounts to an assertion
“thatthe Commissioners acted imperly.” SeeECF No0.166 at13. In this situation, iappears
to beFERC s proper roleto act as an aggressive enforeex civil prosecutor of the FPAand
notto bean objective adjudicator of the facts.

In any event, FERC is not correct when it agthat the wortireview’ necessarily
means that the district court is limited to the administrative reddtiden Congress intends to
limit de novo“review’ to the administrative record, it knows how to do See5 U.S.C.A. o
552(a)(4)(A)(vii) (‘In any action by a requester regarding the waiver of fees under this section,
the court shall determine the matter de nde@vided, That the couit reviewof the matter shall
be limited to the record before the agefityCongresslid not do so her&

The saitutes FERC cited to th@ourtat oral argument also confirm that when Congress
means to limit district court “review” to an administrative record created by the agency, it says so,
explicitly. See33 U.S.C.A. §§ 1319(g)(8)(B) (Clean Water Act ) (“[t]he Administrator or the
Secretary shall promptly file in such court a certified copy of the record on which the order was
issued”), 1321(b)(6)(G) (Water Pollution Control Act) (same); 42 U.S.C. §§ 300h2(c)(6) (Safe
Drinking Water Act) (“[t]he Administrator shall promptly file in such court a certified copy of the
record on which such order was imposed”), 7413(d)(4) (Clean Air Act) (“the Administrator shall
file in such court a certified copy, or certified index, as appropriate, of the record on which the
administrative penalty order or assessment was issued”) , 9609(a)(4) (Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA”))(“[t]he President shall

promptly file in such court a certified copy of the record upon which such violaasrfaund or

presented at the contested hearing. The mere exposure to evidence
presented in nonadversary investiga procedures is insufficient in

itself to impugn the fairness of the board members at a later
adversary hearing.

Withrow, 421 U.S. abb.
3 It is not clear to th&€€ourtwhat point FERC was making with its citaticsitsoral argument
to 49 U.S.Crra 114(v)(3) (vhich makes noeferenceto “review” in district court) 14914 (same),

or to 49 C.F.R. ©407.317 (which makes no reference to any court proceedings), 107.319 (same
1503.413 (same)SeeTranscript atL 7-21.
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VXFK SHQDOW\ LPSRVHG"’
Also, in United States v. First City Nat. Bank of Houst886 U.S. 361 (1967)he

applicable statute provided th&i] n any such action, the court sha&Vviewde novo the issues
presented” 12 U.S.C. ©1828(c)(7)(A (emphasis added)n interpreting this phrasestrikingly
similar to the language of the statute at issue k#ine Court cautioned against focusing on the
word ¥eview, becauseqt] he critical words seem to us to lpie novofand [ssues presentef.
First City, 386 U.S. aB68. Indeed, it noted th&ft] he words peview fand frial fmight
concévably be used interchangeablyid.*

Here, thegoverningVWDW XWH QRZKHUH UHTXLUHV )(5& WWR [ILC
the Court, or to certify vinat facts or evidence it relied upon in making its assessriéns, the
Courthas no way to know whether, for example, FERC consider@dedied upon the testimony
of Hunzeler RU RWKHU GHSRVHG ZLWQHVVHYV ZKRVH WUWDQVFU
Enforcement simply decided it was not necessary to indlidd@ HVWLPRQ\ LQ WKH 3D
UHFRUG °

b. S3The facts involved

In Wilson, the statuténstructedthe courtto determine the appropriate relief availaiple
light of Zall the facts andircumstances,aphrase that is siilar to %he facts involved.See
Wilson, 705 F.3dat 994 (quoting 26 U.S.C. 8015(e)(1)(A), (f)(1)).Havingconcludedhatthe
word determin€ signaled that the court was to uséa novo standard in making its disoon,
Wilson set outto determinewhether 3all the facts and circumstancédsnited the court to the

administrative record compiled by the IRS

In the absence of any limiting language directing the Tax Court to
consider only that evidence before the Cossiuner during the
administrative phase of reviewfdetermining the validity of a
taxpayer$ request for innocent spouse relief in lightalf the facts
and circumstanceéssuggests a de novo scopeewfdentiaryreview

« .

Wilson, 705 F.3cat 988 (emphasis added)'he Ninth Circuit accordingly found that the Tax

36 Moreover, as irFirst City, the ) (5& TV $VVHV
FXVWRPDU\ VHQVH" K '
City 3QR UHFRUG LQ W

QW KHUH LV :LQIRU]
.FlVaddBion, as iRirst
H KDV EHHQ FU
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Court was correct to consider evidence beyond the administrative record compiled by the agenc
3{T'aking into accoundll the facts and circumstancks not possible if the Tax Court cagview
only the evidence available at the time of the Commissi$meior determination Wilson, 705
F.3dat989. FERC identifies no language in the statute, nor its regulations or policy statements
that limit (or purport to limit) thisCourt$ consi@ration to the evidence presented to FERC
during the administrative process.
Defendantslsoargue that their Due Process rights compelQbertto afford thentull
discovery. The&ourthas no need to engagearconstitutional analysj because the language of
the statute isufficiently clear that Congress intendBéfendans to have a chance to defend
themselves in a contested, adjudicatory setting, whether before the ALJ orGouhisSeeFair

HousingCouncil of San Fernando Yfay v. Roommate.com, LL3566 F.3d 1216, 1222 (9th Cir.

2012)( i)t § a well-established principle that statutes will be interpreted tadasonstitutional
difficulties ) (internal quotation marks omittediHowever theCourtnotes that even in the

absnce of clear intent by Congress, a contrary determination that Congress intended to allow th
Courtto affirm $4879 million in penalties and disgorgements agaibstendats without ever
affording thenthe opportunity to defend themselves icoatested, adjudicatory setting before a
neutral decisiomrmaker would require a thorough analysifefendars Jconstitutional

concerns’ SeeMaxim Power Corp.196 F.Supp.3dat 19497 (balancing defendargt Private

interest with FERC$ dnterest inefficient administration of penalties under Optiof). 2

c. 3dnstitute an action

Defendants argue that because the statute contempgdatastion in district court, they
are entitled tdull discovery andall the protections of the Federal Rules of Civibéedure.ECF
No. 136 at56. It is not seriously in dispute that this action is governed by the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure.SeeFed. R. Civ. P1 (with exceptions not relevant herft] hese rules govern
the procedure in all civil actions and peeclings in the United States district coukts).

However Congress has in other cases called for the institutida oivil action” to review an

37 TheCourtalso sees no need tkéeDefendars up on their request for a legislative history

analysis, as the meaning of the statute is sufficiently clear.
24
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administrative decision, while limiting that review to the administrative recBed42 U.S.C.
a 405g) (plaintiff may file “a civil action} and the couit decision will be basétlipon the
pleadings and transcript of the recblekfore the agency)Thereforethe fact that this
proceeding is calleah “action” does not resolve the questions before the Court

B. OtherConsiderations

FERC argues thatnce it issued the Assessment Order based only up@aithiaistrative
record,the Courtshould decide this case based only uthat record SeeECF No.52 at 9 166
at15-16. As discussed above, therens real showing that FERC based its determination upon
this “administrative record.”

In any event,his argument fails to acknowledge the fundamentally different position
FERC was in when ivas called upoto decide whether tavilly prosecuteDefendand, and the
position thisCourtis in, as neutral decisiemaker of the conflict between FERC abdfendars.
FERC has identified nothing in any statute, regulation or policy statement that requires FERC to
act as a neutral decisionaker when it was dedity whether to prosecui@efendarg. Thus, as
far as theCourtcan tell,FERC is not required to find by a preponderance of the evidence (or by
any other standard) that the evidence warrants filing Saitthe contrary, FERC is chargby
statutewith enforcingand administeringhe law not offering a neutral interpretation of ar
dispassionately hearifgefendard’ arguments that they should not be su@dcordingly, there
is nothing prohibiting FERC from deciding to prosecute based entirely daregpresented by
its Enforcement staff, ex parte presentations made to it by Enforcement staff urging it to file

suit*® and even its own desire tpush the envelopieor to make new law on what constitutes

38 The Courtis aware that FERC rules prohibit “off the record” communications between
Enforcement and FERC once the OSC iss2898Statement123 FERC 61156t62014 | 36.
However, this does not seem to prohibit ex parte communications, as long as they are put “on the
record,” and it does not prohibit FERC from making the record “non-public.” Seel8 C.F.R.

a 375.205(a)(10) (autharing a “closed meeting” when the topic is “the Commission’s
participation in a civil action or proceeding”). Moreover, the Courtis not aware of any rules that
prohibit Enforcement staff from engaging in off the record communicatieftsethe OSC
issues TheCourtis also aware that throughout FERC’s Enforcement proceedings, “the subject

of an investigation has the right and the means to make its views known to staff and the
Commission.” 2008 Statementi23 FERC 61156 &2015 ;40. However, this doast give
subjects access to the withesses who testified before the Enforcement staff, and whose testimol
was presented to FERC in the administrative record.

25
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market manipulation in the energy mark&tdn fact, according to the statute, FEBC
determination thabefendans violated the law isimply a mechanism for getting the case into
district court. There is nothing in the statute that requiraisthis determination be based upon a
neutraladjudicative decisioamaking process.

In the normal civil action in thi€ourt, the plaintiff (or whoever bears the burden of
proof) must actuallygrove’its caseand this iso lestruewhennearly$500 million is at stake.
Such prooinvolvessubjecting the evidengeesented by both sidesthe give andake of the
adversarial system. Thims not happened thus farhere is nothing in the record that shows that
Enforcementyroved” that theséefendars broke the lawor thatDefendarsg hal a true
opportunity to defend themselveBeing given the opportunity to providaffidavits” +from
volunteerszis not the same as the ability to cr@esamine Enforcemert witnessesindeed,
even if thisCourtwere to agree that the sole questiosspnted is whether FERC should be
affirmed based upon th@dministrative record,it would at least alloviDefendans the
opportunity to subjedhat evidence to proof. At a minimurbefendars would have the
opportunity to depose any person whose eviddtestimonial or otherwise) Enforcement
receivedor presented to FER.

VI. CONCLUSION

As do the other courts that have examined this issueCthig Xhinks it more natural to

39 For examplePefendanV DVVHUW WKDW WKH ,QWHUFRQWLQHQYV
inquiry into allegations similar to those made agalirefendars here, and found thBefendarns
3GLG QRW HQJDJH LQ DQ\ L P 52 &ZH TheEauQddes mdvknow(iBthisl R
assertion is correct, but if it is, it might work an injusticeDmiendang to deprive them of the

ability to compel production of this allegedly exculpatory report. CTbertis aware that
DefendanV{ SUHVHQWDW L R GBREZWwherHt made/iR dedisidR. However, there
appears to be nothing in any statute, regulation or policy statement that prohibits FERC from
disregarding those submissions, or according them very little weight.

40 TheCourt LV DZDUH R ) (5 Bsfthat tehuir BnibiemrRnt staff to disclose any
HIFXOSDWRU\ 3% UDG\" P DWB09 S@temeid2?HKHERGH N8 SRABR0 | L Q G
: 3'XULQJ WKH FRXUVH RI DQ LOQYHVWLIJDWLRQ FRQGXFW
regulations, Enforcemestaff will scrutinize materials it receives from sources other than the
investigative subject(s) for material that would be required to be disclosedBnadgrAny such
PDWHULDOV RU LQIRUPDWLRQ WKDW DUH QRWe pMitked @ WR
WKH VXEMHFW "Court®ah 1, thipdlidy dokls not require Enforcement to present to
FERC all the evidence it collected, to actively seek out exculpatory material, or to follow leads
that might lead to exculpatory material.
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1 | assumehat both Options allow defendantsfidly developtheir factual deferes, just indifferent
2 | settings. City Power199 F. Supp.3d&32 ,QGHHG WKH GL\pacesykdittalF R X U
3 | review ina district court, where factual developméwbugh discovery is the normid. at231
4 Accordingly, IT IS HEREBY ORDEREDhat:
5 1. FERC$% Motion To Affirm Civil Penalties (ECF Nd.25) is DENIED, butvithout
6 prejudice to its renewal as a dispositaetion under the Federal Rules of Civil
7 Procedure, atraappropriat¢ime.
8 2. The parties are entitled to conduct discoyauysuanto the Federal Rules of Civil
9 Procedure.
10 3. Within sixty (60) days of the date of this order, the parties shall aga&t ancconfer as
11 required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(f) and shall prepare and submit to the Court a joint status
12 report that includes the Rul&@) discovery plan. The joint status report shall address the
13 matters set forth in thiSourt§ Order Requiring Joint Status Report, ECF Alp4.
14 | ITIS SO ORDERED.
15
16 Dated:March 28, 2017
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
27




